Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

4-18-2017

Melton v. Alt Appellant's Brief Dckt. 44768

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

This is an appeal brought by Jadwiga Melton (hereinafter "Jadwiga") the personal representative of the Estates of Robert Ernest Melton and Hedwig "Hedy" Melton, the Appellant, in which Jadwiga challenges the District Judge's decision reversing the Magistrate Judge's holding that Heinz Alt (hereinafter "Heinz"), the Respondent, failed to bring a claim against the estate of his mother, Hedwig "Hedy" Melton (hereinafter "Hedy"), within three years of her death, summary judgment was appropriate as Heinz's claim against Hedy's estate was barred by the statute of limitations.

Factual History

Heinz is the biological son of Hedy and the stepson of her deceased husband, Robert Ernest Melton (hereinafter "Robert"). (R. 229). Heinz alleges that he loaned money to his mother and step-father to enable them to purchase land and build a log home in Boundary County. (R. 230). Hedy and Robert first obtained title to the land on April 11, 1996. (R. 73). On July 29, 1998, Hedy and Robert each executed a Last Will and Testament. On July 10, 1999, the land was deeded to Heinz. (R. 74). Heinz alleges that the property was deeded to him as security for the money he loaned to his mother and step-father. (R. 230). Subsequently, Heinz and his wife deeded the land back to Hedy and Robert on November 4, 1999. (R. 75).

Hedy died on August 11, 2008. (R. 230). At the time of her death, Hedy had a will directing that all of her property would pass to Robert, and, in the event Robert preceded Hedy in death, then all of her property would pass to Heinz. (R. 26). Hedy's will was never probated. (R. 230).

Prior to December 2010, Robert's will mirrored Hedy's will and provided that if he preceded Hedy in death, all of Robert's property would pass to her, and, if Hedy preceded him in death, all of Robert's property would pass to Heinz. (R. 30). In 2010, Robert married Jadwiga. (R. 230). Robert executed a new will in December of 2010 after marrying Jadwiga. (R. 230). Robert died on July 4, 2013. (R. 230). At the time of his death, Robert's will directed that all of his property would pass to Jadwiga. (R. 12). The only assets of the estate are the land and home located in Bonners Ferry, Idaho. Heinz maintains that Hedy and Robert purchased the land and constructed the home with money he loaned to them. (R. 21-22).

Procedural History

On August 29, 2013, Jadwiga filed a Petition for Summary Administration of Robert's estate pursuant to I.C. § 15-3-1205. (R. 10). On August 30, 2013, a Decree Vesting Estate in Surviving Spouse was entered. (R. 19).

On September 6, 2013, Heinz filed a Motion to Convert Proceedings to Supervised

Administration and to Determine Testacy based on his claim that he is entitled to repayment

Page 6

of the money he loaned Hedy and Robert to purchase the land and construct the home at issue. (R 21-23). On October 21, 2013, an Order Setting Aside the Decree Vesting Estate in Surviving Spouse was entered. (R. 39).

On December 9, 2014, Jadwiga filed a Petition for Formal Probate of Will and Formal Appointment of Personal Representative. (R. 41). Because Hedy's will was never probated, Jadwiga requested that the estates of both Hedy and Robert be joined for probate in one proceeding. (R. 41-44). This was done pursuant to I.C. § 15-3-111.

On January 13, 2015, Heinz filed a claim for \$102,574.50 against the estate based on I.C. \$ 15-3-804. (R. 47). Heinz submitted several unauthenticated documents to support his claim. (R. 50-54). On February 2, 2015, Jadwiga was appointed the personal representative of the estates of Robert and Hedy. (R. 55). On February 9, 2015, Jadwiga filed a Notice to Creditors with the Court. (R. 5). The notice was first published in the Bonners Ferry Herald on February 19, 2015. (R. 58). On March 13, 2015, Jadwiga mailed a Notice of Disallowance of Claim to Heinz's attorney. (R. 80). The Notice of Disallowance was filed with the Court on March 17, 2015. (R. 58). Heinz was informed that his claim was being disallowed for the following reasons: (1) the claim was untimely because Heinz failed to bring it within three years of Hedy's death, (2) Heinz failed to provide documentation that Robert owed a debt to him, and (3) Hedy's signature on the documents submitted by Heinz

had not been authenticated. (R. 148-149). On May 4, 2015, Heinz filed a Petition to Allow Claims. (R. 59).

On June 29, 2015, Jadwiga filed a Motion for Summary Judgment to Deny Creditor Claim. (R. 69-70). A hearing was held on August 24, 2015. (R. 150-55). On October 8, 2015, Magistrate Judge Justin W. Julian issued his Memorandum Opinion granting Jadwiga's Motion for Summary Judgment in part. (R. 198-205). Specifically, Judge Julian concluded that Jadwiga's disallowance of Heinz's creditor claim was timely, and that Heinz's claim against Hedy's estate is barred by I.C. § 15-3-803 because Heinz failed to bring his claim within three years of Hedy's death. (R. 201-04). The Magistrate Judge expressly stated that "Heinz may still proceed with his claim against Robert's estate." (R. 204). On December 3, 2015, the Magistrate Judge entered a Judgment on the above two issues and certified it as a final judgment pursuant to I.R.C.P. Rule 54(b). (R. 206). On February 27, 2017 a Second Amended Judgment was entered. (R. 434).

On January 13, 2016, Heinz filed a Notice of Appeal. (R. 208). An Amended Notice of Appeal was filed by Heinz on March 2, 2016. (R. 216). Oral argument was heard on October 7, 2016. (R. 315-16). The District Court affirmed the disallowance of Heinz's creditor claim was timely and reversed the Magistrate Court's determination that Heinz's claim against Hedy's estate is barred by I.C. § 15-3-803 because Heinz failed to bring his claim within three years of Hedy's death. (R. 317-334).

Page 8

II. ISSUES ON APPEAL

Whether the District Court erred as a matter of law by reversing the Magistrate Court's decision that Heinz Alt's claim against the Estate of Hedwig "Hedy" Melton is barred by Idaho Code § 15-3-803?

- A. The District Court erred as a matter of law by construing the statutory language of I.C. § 15-3-111 against its plain and ordinary meaning.
- B. The District Court erred by not considering legislative intent before construing I.C. § 15-3-111 and in the event a legislative history analysis is proper, the legislative history of I.C. § 15-3-111 does not indicate a legislative intent to extend the creditor claim limitation period.
- C. The District Court improperly applied rules of statutory construction in construing I.C. § 15-3-111.
 - 1. The District Court erred by allowing words to be added to I.C. § 15-3-111.
 - 2. *Marshall v. Department of Transportation* and the statutory rule favoring specific statutes over general statutes was misapplied to the facts of this matter.
 - 3. Enforcing the statutory creditor claim period in the context of joint probate does not produce an absurd result.
 - 4. A strict three (3) year creditor claim period in the context of a joint probate does not lead to an unreasonably harsh result.

- 5. Enforcing the creditor claim limitation period in the context of joint probate does not produce an absurd result, because a creditor can and must timely assert their claim.
- D. Jadwiga is entitled to her costs and attorney's fees pursuant to I.R.C.P. §§ 54(d)–(e)(2) and I.C. 15-8-208.

III. STANDARD OF REVIEW

"When reviewing an order for summary judgment, the Supreme Court applies the same standard of review that was used by the trial court in ruling on the motion for summary judgment." *In re Estate of Ortega*, 153 Idaho 609, 612, 288 P.3d 826, 829 (2012) (quoting *Vreeken v. Lockwood Engineering, B.V.*, 148 Idaho 89, 101, 218 P.3d 1150, 1162 (2009)). Summary judgment is proper, "if the pleadings, depositions, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." I.R.C.P. 56(c).

The Supreme Court freely reviews the interpretation of a statute and its application to the facts. *State v. Yzaguirre*, 144 Idaho 471, 474, 163 P.3d 1183, 1186 (2007). The primary function of the court is to determine and give effect to the legislative intent and such intent should be derived from a reading of the whole act at issue. *George W. Watkins Family v. Messenger*, 118 Idaho 537, 539-40, 797 P.2d 1385, 1387-88 (1990). When a statute is ambiguous, the determination of the meaning of the statute and its application is also a matter of

law over which this Court exercises free review. *Kelso & Irwin, P.A. v. State Ins. Fund*, 134 Idaho 130, 134, 997 P.2d 591, 595 (2000); *J.R. Simplot Co. v. Western Heritage Ins. Co.*, 132 Idaho 582, 584, 977 P.2d 196, 198 (1999).

IV. ARGUMENT

This is a case of first impression in Idaho, the central issue being the proper rules to apply when engaging in a question of statutory interpretation and construction. Jadwiga asserts the District Court erred when it departed from Idaho's standard method of interpretation when it held I.C. § 15-3-111 extends the creditor claim limitations period of I.C. § 15-3-803 which reversed the Magistrate's holding.

Under established Idaho law, courts faced with a question of statutory interpretation must first examine the literal words of the statute. A statute that is unambiguous should be construed by its plain and ordinary meaning. Where a statute is ambiguous, courts then look to the legislative history of the statute to aid in interpretation. If the intent of the legislature is unclear, then courts have occasion to consider additional rules of statutory construction. In failing to consider the plain language and legislative history of I.C. § 15-3-111 the District Court erred in its analysis. Here, the plain language of I.C. § 15-3-111 is unambiguous and only extends the limitation period of I.C. § 15-3-108. Further, the legislative history of I.C. § 15-3-111 does not suggest a legislative intent to extend the creditor claim limitations period of I.C. § 15-3-803.

Lastly, under Idaho's additional rules of statutory construction, I.C. § 15-3-803 is unaffected by the language of I.C. § 15-3-111.

A. The District Court erred as a matter of law by construing the statutory language of I.C. § 15-3-111 against its plain and ordinary meaning.

Idaho courts have stated that a court errs when it does not give statutory language its plain, obvious, and ordinary meaning. *State v. Burnight*, 132 Idaho 654, 659 978 P.2d 214, 219 (1999); see also *Bonner County v. Cunningham*, 156 Idaho 291, 295, 323 P.3d 1252, 1256 (Ct. App. 2014). Interpretation of a statute begins with its literal words. *Bonner County*, 156 Idaho at 295. If a statute is unambiguous, a court should not construe it, merely follow the law as written. *Bonner County*, 156 Idaho at 295, 323 P.3d at 1256; *see also Verska v. St. Alphonsus Regional Medical Center*, 151 Idaho 889, 895, 265 P.3d 502, 508 (2011).

In the present case, the "joint probate" statute known as I.C. § 15-3-111 is simply stated and its literal meaning clear. I.C. § 15-3-111 reads as follows:

In cases in which a marital community has been dissolved by the death of either spouse at any time, the survivor was then entitled to all of the property of the decedent by will, law, or both, and the survivor died before any proceeding had been commenced for the probate of the estate of the spouse whose death occurred first, the estates of both decedents may be joined for probate in a single proceeding in any court having jurisdiction of the estate of the spouse whose death occurred last. The three (3) year provision of section 15-3-108 Idaho Code applies only to the death of the spouse whose death occurred last. The initial application or petition filed in any such joint proceeding shall contain a statement of the facts

upon which such joint proceeding is based, in addition to all other statements required by this code to be made therein.

I.C. § 15-3-111.

The language of the statute is precise and should be construed by its literal words – no more, no less. Those words do not include an extension of the time for creditors to file claims against the first spouse who died. There is no reference to I.C. § 15-3-803 nor creditor claims in any portion of the language. As Judge Julian stated in his Memorandum Opinion:

There is nothing in this section [I.C. § 15-3-111] that states or suggests any tolling of a creditor's deadline to present a claim, just because the estate is subsequently jointly probated. Indeed, this section specifically exempts the three (3) year limitation on probate following death of the first spouse, as found in section 108. That fact clearly demonstrates the legislature's ability and willingness to make special exceptions within this particular provision where warranted and intended. As there is no exception made to the three (3) year creditors' bar found in 15-3-803, one shall not be implied by the court. Heinz's claim against Hedy's estate was not filed or "presented" within three years of her death and is now barred by IC § 15-3-803(a)(1).

(R. 331).

The District Court, in its *Opinion on Appeal*, includes the above stated quote, but does not engage in its own analysis of the plain language of the statute or legislative history. (R. 331). Without finding the statue ambiguous, it construed the statute using additional rules of statutory construction. (R. 331-32). However, this Court has made clear that a court engages in statutory construction only where there is ambiguity. *Bonner County*, 156 Idaho at 295, 323 P.3d at 1256.

Further, a finding of ambiguity requires more than presentation of conflicting interpretations. *Id.* "A statute is ambiguous where the language is capable of more than one reasonable construction." *Id.* "A statute is not ambiguous merely because an astute mind can devise more than one interpretation of it." *Id.* "If that were the test then all statutes whose meanings are contested in litigation could be considered ambiguous." *Id.*

Despite this Court's clear guidance, the District Court did not apply well established rules of statutory construction and so erred in its interpretation of I.C. § 15-3-111. Under Idaho law examination of the plain language of a statute precedes the application of additional rules of statutory construction. This Court noted that a court cannot deviate from existing law by applying rules of statutory construction without first examining the literal words of the statute and determining whether or not it is ambiguous. *Bonner County*, 156 Idaho at 295, 323 P.3d at 1256; *see also In re Adoption of Doe*, 156 Idaho 345, 349-50, 326 P.3d 347, 351-52 (2014). In that case, this Court found that the magistrate's application of a rule of statutory construction (*in pari materia*) was unnecessary and in error where the language in question was unambiguous. *Id.* at 351, 326 P.3d at 353. Further, this Court held that rules of statutory construction are inapplicable to unambiguous statutes, because "the clearly expressed intent of the legislative body must be given effect, and there is no occasion for a court to consider rules of statutory construction." *Id.* (citing *Payette River Property Owner's Assn. v. Board. of Com'rs. Of Valley County*, 132 Idaho 551, 557, 979 P.2d 477, 483 (1999)).

In the case at hand, the District Court erred by considering the effect of statutory construction rules without first analyzing the plain language of the statute for ambiguity. Under the holding of *In re Adoption of Doe*, the District Court's deviation from existing law is reversible error.

B. The District Court erred by not considering legislative intent before construing I.C. § 15-3-111 which does not indicate a legislative intent to extend the creditor claim limitation period.

If this Court finds the words of I.C. § 15-3-111 ambiguous, then it must look to the legislative intent, and in construing a statute, may examine the language used, the reasonableness of the proposed interpretations, and the policy behind the statute. *Kelso & Irwin, P.A.*, at 134, 997 P.2d at 595. "In attempting to discern and implement the intent of the legislature, the court may seek edification from the statute's legislative history and contemporaneous context at enactment." *State v. Burnight*, 132 Idaho 654, 659, 978 P.2d 214, 219 (1999). Extrinsic aids such as the statute's heading may be used to construe an ambiguous statute. *State v. Moore*, 111 Idaho 854, 727 P.2d 1282 (Idaho Ct. App. 1986); *see also Local 1494 of Intern. Ass'n of Firefighters v. City of Coeur d'Alene*, 99 Idaho 630, 641, 586 P.2d 1346, 1356-57 (1978).

Previous to adopting the Uniform Probate Code (hereinafter "UPC") in 1971, Idaho's legislature had enacted I.C. § 15-313 in 1937 which provided for a joinder of probates. I.C. § 15-313 reads as follows:

When a marital community is dissolved by the death of either member thereof, thereafter, if the survivor should die before proceedings shall have been commenced for the probate of the estate of the person who first died, and both have died intestate the estates of both of the said decedents may, by order of the court, be joined for probate in a single proceeding in any probate court having jurisdiction of either estate; provided the same person is, under the provisions of section 15-312, entitled to letters of administration in both estates and consents so to act. The procedure to be followed shall be similar in all respects to that prescribed for the probate of the estate of the male member of a former marital community who has died intestate.

I.C. § 15-313. Upon adoption of the UPC, I.C. § 15-313 was repealed leaving no method for joint probate until the enactment of I.C. § 15-3-111.

I.C. § 15-3-111 was originally adopted in 1973 and the legislative purpose for adopting I.C. § 15-3-111 was to "fill certain gaps left out of the original probate code." S. B. 419, 1973 Leg., 42nd Sess. (Idaho 1973) (Statement of Purpose). As before, this statute allows the estates of two deceased spouses to be joined for probate in a single proceeding in any court having jurisdiction of the estate of the spouse whose death occurred last. I.C. § 15-3-111. The original language of I.C. § 15-3-111 did not include reference to its effect upon surrounding statutes in the Idaho probate code.

In 1995, I.C. § 15-3-111 was amended by Senate Bill No. 1166 to add: "[t]he three (3) year provision of section 15-3-108, Idaho Code, applies only to the death of the spouse whose death occurred last." The title of Senate Bill No. 1166 reads:

An act relating to probate of wills and administration; amending section 15-3-111, Idaho Code, to clarify the application of a

provision of **another** statute [I.C. § 15-3-108] to the death of the spouse whose death occurs last.

S. B. 1166, 1995 Leg., 53rd Sess. (Idaho 1995) (emphasis added).

The language of Senate Bill No. 1166 does not suggest a legislative intent to extend the time limitations in both I.C. §§ 15-3-108 and 15-3-803. First, the Senate Bill is written with reference to a singular, not plural, provision of "another" statute. Second, Idaho recognizes the rule of *17expressio unius est exclusion alterius*, a Latin phrase meaning: "where a construction or statute specifies certain things, the designation of such things excludes all others." *Local 1494 of Intern. Ass'n of Firefighters*, 99 Idaho at 639, 586 P.2d at 1355. Logically, if a statute specifies its effect upon a singular statute, the reference should be exclusive. There is no reference to creditor claims in the original statute or in its amendment.

In its Memorandum Opinion, the District Court erred in its determination that the creditor claim period of I.C. § 15-3-803 of the first spouse to die was tolled when a joint probate was opened. The 1995 amendment to I.C. § 15-3-111 cannot be interpreted to include both the three (3) year provisions of I.C. §§ 15-3-108 and 15-3-803 because there is no reference to I.C. § 15-3-803 within the statute or its history.

As an aside, I.C. § 15-3-111 cannot impliedly include both three year periods for the simple fact that it would have been impossible at the time of the amendment. In 1995, I.C. § 15-3-803 set forth a two year limitation upon the presentment of claims. I.C. § 15-3-803 (1991) (amended 2004). It was not until 2004 that a three year limitation period for creditor claims was

added to Idaho's Probate Code. Unless the legislature foresaw that the nonclaim statute would be extended to a three year limitation almost a decade later, it would be illogical to read I.C. § 15-3-111 to include the limitation period of I.C. § 15-3-803.

It is assumed this inconsistency, with regard to the two year limitation period, is one that the Idaho Legislature would have been aware of at the time of the 1995 amendment. Idaho has acknowledged the breadth of the legislature's knowledge of the law and consideration of the same:

A statute is to be construed as a whole without separating one provision from another. The Court should also construe statues under the assumption that the legislature knew of all legal precedent and other statutes in existence at the time the statute was passed.

State v. Burnight, 132 Idaho 654, 659, 978 P.2d 214 (1999).

The legislative history of I.C. § 15-3-111, as a whole, does not support a contention that the Idaho Legislature intended to expand the limitation period for creditor claims in the context of a joint probate proceeding.

C. The District Court improperly applied rules of statutory construction in construing I.C. § 15-3-111.

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