# Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

7-13-2017

### Melton v. Alt Respondent's Brief Dckt. 44768

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

#### IV. ARGUMENT

A. The District Court correctly construed the statutory language of I.C. § 15-3-111 and I.C. § 15-3-803.

Appellant's Brief argues that the District Court sitting in its appellate capacity failed to analyze and apply the plain meaning of the statutory provisions of Idaho Code § 15-3-111 and Idaho Code § 15-3-803 and that this failure was error as a matter of law requiring reversal.

Appellant's Brief further argues that the language of the statute is "precise and should be construed by its literal words". Appellant's Brief, p.13.

Appellant also argues that Idaho Code § 15-3-803 is unambiguous and clear in its language and makes no reference to Idaho Code § 15-3-111 and, therefore, the extensions of time for filing of probates found in subsection 111 should be disregarded and subsection 803 read in isolation or without reference to the remaining portions of the Probate Code.

Appellant's position is that the unambiguous language of I.C. § 15-3-803 should be read to prohibit all creditor's claims beyond the three (3) year of decedent's date of death. Appellants' position requires application of section 803 while ignoring the specific exceptions of section 111 that allow for filing a joint probate of husband and wife where the assets are community property, but more than three (3) years have elapsed from the date of death of the first spouse to die.

Appellant's legal authority for this premise is the case of <u>Bonner County v.</u>

<u>Cunningham</u>, 156 Idaho 291, 323, P.3d 1252 (App., 2014). This case arises from a search warrant and seizure of cash followed by a civil forfeiture action which was

untimely filed. The sole issue arising in <u>Bonner County v. Cunningham</u> was Cunningham's entitled to an award of attorney's fees.

Appellant is correct that the Appellate Courts have consistently required that the interpretation of a statute "begins with its literal word" and that "[t]hose words must be given their plain, obvious and rational meaning". <u>Bonner County v. Cunningham</u>, 156 Idaho 291, 295, 323 P.3d 1252, 1256 (App., 2014).

The decision in Bonner County v. Cunningham cites to Verska v. St. Alphonsus Regional Medical Center, a 2011 case in which the Idaho Supreme Court notes: "The interpretation of a statute 'must begin with the literal words of the statute; those words must be given their plain, usual, and ordinary meaning; and the statute must be *construed* as a whole". Verska v. St. Alphonsus Regional Medical Center, 151 Idaho 889, 893, 265 P.3d 502, 506 (2011) [emphasis added]; quoting In re Estate of Miller, 143 Idaho 565, 567, 149 P.3d 840, 842 (2006); also quoting State v. Schwartz, 139 Idaho 360, 362, 79 P.3d 719, 721 (2003).

Appellant asserts that the District Court's opinion did not make a finding that the statute was ambiguous when it chose to construe the statute using additional rules of statutory construction and did not engage in its own analysis of the plain language of the statute, the legislative history. Appellant's Brief, p.13

Both assertions are incorrect and misrepresent the District Court's opinion. The latter assertion also misstates the law in Idaho as stated in <u>Verska</u>. The District Court is not required to or should it analyze legislative history when an analysis of the plain language of the statute, <u>as a whole</u>, leads to clear and unambiguous application of the law.

The District Court, beginning at page 13 of its Opinion on Appeal, went through extensive analysis of the statutory provisions contained within the Idaho Probate Code, as follows:

The three year limitation for creditors in I.C. § 15-3-803(a)(1) parallels the general time limit for probating an estate. I.C. § 15-3-108 states: "No formal probate or appointment proceeding, or formal testacy or appointment proceeding, .... may be commenced more than three years after the decedent's death."

Although the general rule requires a probate action to be commenced within three years of an individual's death, there are two exceptions to the rule. First, pursuant to I.C. § 15-3-1205, upon the death of a person leaving a surviving spouse as a sole devisee or beneficiary, the surviving spouse .... may file a petition for decree vesting the property in the surviving spouse .... with the condition that the surviving spouse (or person claiming entitlement through the surviving spouse) assume and be liable for any and all indebtedness that might be claimed against the estate of the decedent.

Second, pursuant to I.C. § 15-3-111, a joint probate may be commenced to administer the estates of two deceased spouses..."

R. pp. 329-330

The District Court, in fact, spends three (3) pages analyzing the interplay between subsection 803, 1205, 108 and 111, as well as discussing the history of the revisions or additions to the Probate Code.

Additionally, the District Court addresses and discusses the legislative purpose set forth in the 1995 amendment to subsection 111 before coming to the District Court's final conclusion interpreting the probate code, as follows:

A basic tenet of statutory construction is that the more specific statute or section addressing an issue controls over the statute that is more general. .... It is undisputed that I.C. § 15-3-111 extends the general three year time frame in which to file a probate action. Consequently, in cases such as this one, I.C. § 15-3-111 is the specific statute, while I.C. § 15-3-108 and I.C. § 15-3-803(a)(1) are general statutes. Because the three year provision of I.C. § 15-3-108 only applies to the death of the spouse whose death occurred last, it would follow that the three year time frame set out in I.C. § 15-3-803(a)(1) would also only apply to the death of a spouse whose death occurred last in probate actions filed pursuant to I.C. § 15-3-111.

Additionally, interpreting I.C. § 15-3-803(a)(1) as barring creditors' claims against the "estate of the spouse whose death occurred first" in probate actions commenced pursuant to I.C. § 15-3-111 simply because the death occurred more than three years prior to the commencement of the probate action would produce an absurd result. This is because I.C. § 15-3-111 expressly allows "the estates of both decedents [to] be joined for probate in a single proceeding" within three years of the "death of the spouse whose death occurred last". If the statute of limitations for the first to die is not tolled, then in effect the only estate to probate is that of the second to die. "Constructions of a statute that would lead to absurd or unreasonably harsh results are disfavored." <a href="State v. Yager">State v. Yager</a>, 139 Idaho 680, 690, 85 P.3d 656, 666 (2004)

R. pp. 332-333

Despite Appellants arguments, the District Court did analyze the statute (probate code) as a whole, and not just subsection 803 in isolation, as Appellant asserts should have occurred.

This is consistent with Idaho law. "The objective of statutory interpretation is to give effect to legislative intent." State v. Yzaguirre, 144 Idaho 471, 475, 163 P.3d 1183, 1187 (2007). "Such intent should be derived *from a reading of the whole act at issue*."

St. Luke's Reg'l Med. Ctr., Ltd. v. Brd. of Comm'rs of Ada Cnty., 146 Idaho 753, 755, 203 P.3d 683, 685 (2009). [emphasis added]

The District Court's opinion on appeal should be affirmed by this Court.

B. Contrary to Appellant's Brief, the District Court did not err in its consideration of legislative intent when construing Idaho Code § 15-3-111.

Appellant asserts that the District Court erred by not applying or interpreting legislative intent from Idaho Code § 15-3-111 or by failing to consider the legislative intent. Appellant's Brief, pp. 15-18.

First, Appellant's argument is incorrect and misstates the District Court's Decision. Beginning at page 15 of the Opinion on Appeal, the District Court discussed at length the legislative intent behind Idaho Code § 15-3-111. R. pp. 382-384.

Furthermore, Appellant's position is incorrect with regard to the standards for statutory interpretation as set forth by the Idaho Supreme Court.

"The objective of statutory interpretation is to give effect to legislative intent.'

'Such intent should be derived from a reading of the whole act at issue.'" <u>Idaho Youth</u>

Ranch, Inc. v. Ada County Board of Equalization, 157 Idaho 180, 184, 335 P.3d 25, 29

(2014); quoting <u>State v. Yzaguirre</u>, 144 Idaho 471, 475, 163 P.3d 1183, 1187 (2007); also quoting <u>St. Luke's Regional Medical Center v. Ada County</u>, 146 Idaho 753, 755, 203

P.3d 683, 685 (2009).

As both the District Court Opinion and the Appellant's Brief acknowledge, the Court is required to interpret Idaho Code § 15-3-111 and § 15-3-803(a)(1) as part of the whole act at issue, the Idaho Uniform Probate Code adopted in 1971. I.C. § 15-1-101.

Idaho Code § 15-1-103 requires that principles of law and equity are intended to supplement the provisions of the Probate Code unless specifically "displaced" by provisions of the Probate Code. I.C. § 15-1-103.

Appellant argues that subsection 111 was adopted in 1973 to "fill certain gaps left out of the original Probate Code" and to allow estates of two (2) deceased spouses to be joined for probate in a single proceeding even when the death of the first spouse is more than three (3) years prior to the filing and would normally be prohibited under Idaho Code § 15-3-108. Appellant's Brief, pp. 16-17.

Appellant argues that since no express reference is made to Idaho Code § 15-3-803, the legislative intent in adopting I.C. § 15-3-111 does not include an intent to expand time for creditor's claims beyond three (3) years from the date of death, even though that subsection permits the filing of a joint probate more than three (3) years after the date of death.

In this particular case, Hedy's death in 2008 would result in a bar to any creditor's claim after August 11, 2011, if interpreted as Appellant argues. This absurd result would require the filing of a probate of Hedy's Estate and a Creditor's Claim against that estate by Heinz while Robert was still living.

Under Appellant's interpretation of subsection 111 and 803, Robert and Hedy's Estates (and estates like them) may be excluded from the provisions of joint probates under Idaho Code § 15-3-111, based arbitrarily on whether the second spouse survives more, or less, than three (3) years after the first spouse dies.

The District Court in its Opinion on Appeal noted the absurd result:

Additionally, interpreting I.C. § 15-3-803(a)(1) as barring creditors' claims against the "estate of the spouse whose death occurred first" in probate actions commenced pursuant to I.C. § 15-3-111 simply because the death occurred more than three years prior to the commencement of the probate action would produce an absurd result. This is because I.C. § 15-3-111 expressly allows "the estates of

both decedents [to] be joined for probate in a single proceeding" within three years of the "death of the spouse whose death occurred last". If the statute of limitations for the first to die is not tolled, then in effect the only estate to probate is that of the second to die. "Constructions of a statute that would lead to absurd or unreasonably harsh results are disfavored" State v. Yager, 139 Idaho 680, 690, 85 P.3d 656, 666 (2004)

R. pp. 383-384

Contrary to Appellant's argument, the District Court properly construed the legislative intent by analyzing and reading the whole act at issue (The Idaho Probate Code) and reconciling Idaho Code § 15-3-111 with Idaho Code § 15-3-803 and related provisions.

"Statutory interpretation begins with the 'literal word to the statute, and this language should be given its plain, obvious and rational meaning". <u>Idaho Youth Ranch</u>, <u>Inc. v. Ada County Board of Equalization</u>, 157 Idaho 180, 184-5, 335 P.3d 25, 29-30 (2014); quoting <u>Seward v. Pacific Hyde and Fur Depot</u>, 138 Idaho 509, 511, 65 P.3 531, 533 (2003).

Additionally, the District Court's ruling is consistent with the Probate Code's purposes and rules of construction found at Idaho Code § 15-1-102, which states that the Code is to be "liberally construed and applied to promote its underlying purposes and policies". Those stated policies and purposes include simplifying and clarifying the law concerning the affairs of decedents and should promote a speedy and efficient system for liquidating the estate of the decedent and making distribution to his successors. I.C. § 15-1-102 (2017).

Appellant's argument would be counter to the purposes and rules of construction set forth above, as it would require the filing of the probate upon the death of the first spouse to die every time a creditor has a claim and the second spouse survives by three (3) years or more. This is inconsistent with the purpose set forth above.

Likewise, the District Court's Opinion on Appeal is consistent with Idaho Code § 15-1-105 which provides that the Probate Code is a general act intended as a "unified coverage of its subject matter and no part of it shall be deemed impliedly repealed by subsequent legislation if it can reasonably be avoided." I.C. § 15-1-1-5 (2017).

The District Court's Opinion on Appeal reconciles subsection 111 with subsection 803 so as not to nullify or void either provision in light of the other.

As the District Court noted, it is the obligation of the Court to interpret the statute in a manner that would not lead to an absurd or unreasonably harsh result.

For these reasons, the District Court's decision should be affirmed as reversing the Magistrate's Decision.

### C. The District Court properly applied rules of statutory construction when construing I.C. § 15-3-111 and I.C. § 15-3-803.

In this section, the Appellant argues that the Court misapplied rules of construction. As asserted above, the Respondent believes that the Court did not, in fact, construe the statute, but simply applied the plain meaning of Idaho Code § 15-3-111 as an exception to the general statutory requirement that all probates be filed within three (3) years of the decedent's death. The Court then properly interpreted that Code section along with Idaho Code § 15-3-803 in such a manner as to reconcile both statutory provisions within the context of the whole Idaho Probate Code. This avoids an absurd

result. As discussed above, the District Court's analysis was proper in light of the directives on statutory interpretation set forth in prior case law and as set forth in the provisions of the Probate Code itself.

Beginning at page 19 of her Brief, the Appellant argues that the District inserted additional language into subsection 111, but at no point does the Appellant state what additional language the District Court supposedly inserted into this subsection of the probate code.

Perhaps some of the Appellant's confusion arises from her misreading of Idaho Code § 15-3-803. Appellant argues that this statutory provision imposes a "statute of limitations" on submission of creditor's claims. In fact, subsection 803 states as follows:

(a) All claims against a decedent's estate which arose before the death of the decedent, including the claims of the state and any subdivision thereof (except claims for state taxes), .... if not barred earlier by another statute of limitations or non-claims statute, are barred against the estate, the personal representative, and the heirs and devisees of the decedent, unless presented within the earlier of the following dates: (1) three years after the decedent's death ...

I.C. § 15-3-803 (2017)<sup>1</sup>

Keeping in mind the standard on summary judgments, there is a disputed fact as to whether or not Heinz's Creditor's Claim was a claim which arose before the deaths of Hedy and Robert. The verified claim indicates that Hedy and Robert were loaned money by Heinz, which initially secured by conveying title to the property to Heinz followed by execution of Wills which left the entirety of their estate to Heinz upon the second

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Subsection 2 of the statute is inapplicable in this case and it is not quoted here because of the language "the earlier of the following dates".

spouse's death. In other words, the record before the Court would indicate that the claim was not one which arose until after both Robert and Hedy had died, at which point the Wills executed prior to Robert's marriage to Jadwiga would have left all of their estates by bequest to Heinz as a means of repayment.

Further, when looking at the committee comments to section 803, it does not appear, as Appellant argues, that 803 was intended as a "statute of limitations" for creditors, so much as a means to expedite administration of estates.

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